ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The criminal attempt statute is unconstitutional because it was enacted

in violation of Wash. Const. art. II, § 19. 

2. Mr. Alexander was convicted and sentenced to life without possibility
of release through the operation of an unconstitutional statute. 

ISSUE 1: Washington' s constitution requires that bills enacted

into law embrace a single subject. The bill defining and
classifying criminal attempts also created the " determinate
plus" sentencing scheme for certain sex offenders, set forth a
60 -month mandatory minimum for people convicted of
sexually violent predator escape, changed the definition of that
offense, elevated indecent liberties by forcible compulsion and
second - degree assault with sexual motivation to class A

felonies, created new alternate means of committing sexual
misconduct with a minor in the first and second degrees, 

changed the qualifications for sex offender treatment providers

treating sexually violent predators released to the community, 

and created qualified immunity and reporting duties for sex
offender treatment providers treating certain sex offenders

living in community settings. Is the criminal attempt statute
unconstitutional because it was enacted in violation of art. II, § 

19' s single subject rule? 

ISSUE 2: Art. II, § 19 requires that the subject of a bill be

expressed in its title. The statute defining and classifying
criminal attempts was part of a bill captioned " AN ACT

Relating to the management of sex offenders in the civil
commitment and criminal justice systems... [ and] prescribing
penalties." Was the criminal attempt statute enacted as part of

a bill that violated the subject -in -title rule because the title

contained no reference to many of the different subjects
contained in the bill? 

3. The court' s instruction defining " substantial step" impermissibly
relieved the state of its burden of establishing every element of
attempted rape of a child in the first degree. 



4. The court' s instructions on attempted rape of a child failed to make the

relevant legal standard manifestly clear to the average juror. 

ISSUE 3: A conviction for attempt requires proof that the

accused person took a " substantial step" toward commission of

the crime charged; the phrase " substantial step" means
conduct strongly corroborative of the actor' s criminal

purpose..." Here, the court' s instructions defined the phrase as

conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose..." Did the

instruction relieve the prosecution of its burden to prove the

elements of attempted rape of a child beyond a reasonable

doubt, in violation of Mr. Alexander' s Fourteenth Amendment

right to due process? 

5. The trial court erred by sentencing Mr. Alexander to life in prison
without possibility ofparole. 

6. Mr. Alexander' s life sentence was imposed in violation of his

Fourteenth Amendment right to equal protection. 

7. Mr. Alexander' s life sentence was imposed in violation of his state

constitutional right to equal protection. 

8. Mr. Alexander' s life sentence was imposed in violation of his Sixth

and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury trial. 

9. Mr. Alexander' s life sentence was imposed in violation of his Sixth

and Fourteenth Amendment right to proof beyond a reasonable doubt. 

10. Mr. Alexander' s life sentence was imposed in violation of his state

constitutional right to due process. 

11. The trial court erred by entering Finding ofFact No. 2. 1 in the
Judgment and Sentence. 

12. The trial court erred by entering Finding ofFact No. 2.2 in the
Judgment and Sentence. 

ISSUE 4: An accused person is guaranteed the right to a jury
determination beyond a reasonable doubt of any fact that
elevates a crime from one tier to a higher category. The trial

2



judge, using a preponderance standard, found that Mr. 
Alexander had a prior " strike" offense, elevating his sentence
to life without possibility of parole. Does sentence imposed
violate Mr. Alexander' s state and federal constitutional rights

due process and to a jury trial? 
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STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Joel Alexander met a police officer at a public bathroom in Elma. 

The police officer had previously had a long exchange of electronic

communication with a person he believed to be Mr. Alexander. The

officer posed as a boy of eleven. RP 16 -156. Based on this electronic

correspondence and the items Mr. Alexander brought with him, the state

filed a charge of Attempted Rape of a Child in the First Degree. CP 1. 

At trial, the court instructed the jury on the law of criminal attempt. 

The court defined the phrase " substantial step" as follows: " A substantial

step is conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose and that is more

than mere preparation." CP 39. Defense counsel did not object. 

Mr. Alexander was convicted. CP 3. At sentencing, the state

alleged that Mr. Alexander had prior convictions that qualified him for

sentencing as a persistent offender.' RP 192 -193. Mr. Alexander did not

stipulate to his criminal history. Defense attorney stated on the record that

the defense did not agree that the prior convictions related to the person

before the court. Counsel also objected on the grounds that the evidence

was insufficient to prove the prior convictions. RP 192. 

The prior conviction was for two counts of Rape ofa Child in the Second Degree. CP 4

E



The court admitted Exhibit 2, which contained documents relating

to the alleged prior sex offenses. RP 193; Ex. 2 ( 12/ 10/ 12). The court

found both prior convictions related to Mr. Alexander, and sentenced him

to life without the possibility of parole. RP 198 -199; CP 3 - 11. 

Mr. Alexander timely appealed. CP 14 -15. 

ARGUMENT

I. MR. ALEXANDER WAS CONVICTED AND SENTENCED THROUGH

OPERATION OF A STATUTE ENACTED IN VIOLATION OF WASH. 

CONST. ART. II, § 19. 

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. State v. Lynch, 

87882- 0, 2013 WL 5310164, - -- Wn.2d - -- (2013). A manifest error

affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review. 

RAP 2. 5( a)( 3); State v. Kirwin, 165 Wn.2d 818, 823, 203 P. 3d 1044

2009). 

Statutes are presumed constitutional; the party challenging a

statute' s constitutionality " bears the heavy burden of establishing its

unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt." Amalgamated Transit

Union Local 587 v. State, 142 Wn.2d 183, 205, 11 P.3d 762 ( 2000) 

opinion corrected, 27 P. 3d 608 ( 2001). This standard is met when

5



argument and research show that there is no reasonable doubt that the

statute violates the constitution." Id. 

B. The Washington Constitution requires that all bills embrace a

single subject, which must be expressed in the bill' s title. 

Under Wash. Const. art. II, § 19, " No bill shall embrace more than

one subject, and that shall be expressed in the title." The provision is

intended (a) to prevent " logrolling" (where a law is pushed through by

attaching it to other legislation), and (b) " to notify members of the

Legislature and the public of the subject matter of the measure." 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207. 

1. The single - subject rule. 

The legislature must " be given the opportunity to consider

legislative subjects in separate bills, so that each subject may stand or fall

upon its own merits or demerits." Washington Toll Bridge Auth. v. State, 

49 Wn.2d 520, 525, 304 P. 2d 676 ( 1956). The relevant inquiry is whether

the body of the act contain[ s] more than one general subject..." Id, at

523. Part of the analysis turns on whether either subject is necessary to

implement the other. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 217. A

statute passed in violation of the single subject rule is unconstitutional and

therefore void. Id, at 216; Toll Bridge, 49 Wn2d at 525. 

no



For example, in Toll Bridge, the Supreme Court invalidated an act

because it embraced two subjects: "( 1) To provide legislation, permanent

in character, empowering a state agency to establish and operate all toll

roads, and ( 2) to provide for the construction of a specific toll road linking

Tacoma, Seattle, and Everett." Toll Bridge, 49 Wn.2d at 523. Similarly, 

in Amalgamated Transit Union, the Court found that in I -695 embraced

two different purposes: " to specifically set license tab fees at $ 30 and to

provide a continuing method of approving all future tax increases." 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 217. 

2. Subject -in -title rule. 

For purposes of the subject -in -title rule, courts consider only the

substantive language describing the bill. A title' s " mere reference to a

section... does not state a subject." Patrice v. Murphy, 136 Wn.2d 845, 

853, 966 P.2d 1271 ( 1998) ( internal quotation marks and citations

omitted). This is so even if the numerical reference follows words such as

amending," " adding new sections to," or " repealing." Id.; see also Fray

v. Spokane Cnty., 134 Wn.2d 637, 651 -555, 952 P.2d 601 ( 1998). This is

so because bare numeric references do not give adequate notice: " To say

that mere reference to a numbered section embodies the idea of a theme, 

proposition, or discourse, it seems to us, is not sustained by the ordinary

7



understanding of those terms." State v. Superior Court ofKing Cnty., 28

Wash. 317, 325, 68 P. 957 ( 1902). 

The title of a bill may be general or restrictive. Amalgamated

Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207 -208. Restrictive titles are " narrow, as

opposed to broad;" the label applies whenever "` a particular part or branch

of a subject is carved out and selected as the subject of the legislation. "' 

State v. Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d 118, 127, 942 P.2d 363 ( 1997) ( quoting

Gruen v. State Tax Comm' n, 35 Wn.2d 1, 23, 211 P.2d 651 ( 1949)), 

overruled on other grounds by State ex rel. Washington State Finance

Commission v. Martin, 62 Wn.2d 645, 384 P. 2d 833 ( 1963)). 

Restrictive titles will not be regarded as liberally as general titles; 

any provision not fairly within a restrictive title will not be given force. 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 210. Violations of art. II, § 19

are more readily found where a restrictive title is used." Id, at 211. 

Examples of restrictive titles include " An act relating to the acquisition of

property by public agencies," " An act relating to local improvements in

cities and towns," " An act relating to increasing penalties for armed

crime." Id. 

General titles, on the other hand, are " broad rather than narrow." 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207 -208. They " may be

comprehensive and generic rather than specific." Id. A statute enacted
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under a general title is invalid unless there is " rational unity between the

general subject and the incidental subjects." Id, at 209. Examples of

general titles include " An Act relating to violence prevention," " An Act

relating to tort actions." Id, at 208 ( providing examples). 

C. The criminal attempt statute was enacted as part of a bill that

violated both the single- subject rule and the subject -in -title rule. 

RCW 9A.28.020 criminalizes attempt. The current version of the

statute was enacted in 2001. Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, § 354. The

title of the enacting bill was " AN ACT Relating to the management of sex

offenders in the civil commitment and criminal justice systems... [ and] 

prescribing penalties." Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12. 

1. The bill addressed many different subjects. 

In addition to reenacting and amending the criminal attempt

statute, the bill addressed a variety of subjects. First, a large portion of the

bill addressed transitional facilities for sexually violent predators released

to less restrictive alternatives. Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, §§ 201- 

226. Among other things, these provisions authorized DSHS to set up a

transitional facility on McNeil Island, provided incentives for localities to

construct other such facilities, and placed restrictions on the location of

potential transitional facilities. 

E



The majority of the bill fell under the heading " sentencing

structure." This portion of the bill addressed provisions of the SRA and

RCW 9. 95. It included §354, which set forth amendments to the criminal

attempt statute. These amendments added certain sex crimes ( including

first- degree child rape) to the list of attempts that are class A felonies. 

Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, § 354. 

The section captioned " sentencing structure" embraced other

subjects as well. It set up the determinate -plus sentencing scheme.
3

Laws

of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, §§ 303 -304. It set a mandatory minimum of 60

months for sexually violent predator escape, and changed the definition of

that offense. Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, §§ 315, 360. It created a

new means of committing sexual misconduct, criminalizing sexual contact

between school employees and students. Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, 

357 -358. It elevated assault with sexual motivation and indecent

liberties by forcible compulsion to class A felony status. Laws of 2001, 

2nd sp. s. ch. 12, §§ 355, 359. 

2

Previously, an attempt to commit one of these crimes had been a class B felony. 
See former RCW 9A.28.020 ( 2000). 

3 The determinate plus system applies to certain sex offenders who are not

persistent offenders. It requires imposition of the statutory maximum and a parole date. 
Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. ch. 12, §§ 303 -304. 
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Another part of the bill was captioned " sex offender treatment

providers." Among other things, it established qualifications for providers

who treat sexually violent predators in transitional facilities. 2001 Wash. 

Legis. Serv. 2nd Sp. Sess. Ch. 12, § 402. It also created limited immunity

for such providers, and for providers who treat level III sex offenders on

community custody. 2001 Wash. Legis. Serv. 2nd Sp. Sess. Ch. 12, § 403. 

As this summary shows, the bill embraced numerous subjects. The

statute criminalizing attempt bears no relationship to transitional facilities

for civil detainees committed under RCW 71. 09. Nor does it relate to the

definition of sexually violent predator escape, or the mandatory minimum

for that offense. It does not relate to sex between school employees and

students, the classification of assault with sexual motivation or indecent

liberties by forcible compulsion, the qualifications of sex offender

treatment providers, or limitations on civil liability for such providers. 

The statute criminalizing attempt was enacted in a bill that

embraced multiple subjects. Accordingly it is void under Wash. Const. 

art. II, § 19. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 216; Toll Bridge, 

49 Wn.2d at 525. It has not been resuscitated by reenactment or

amendment since 2001. See Morin v. Harrell, 161 Wn.2d 226, 228, 164

P. 3d 495 ( 2007) ( a proper " amendment or reenactment cures the art. II, § 

19 defect. ") Accordingly, the law is unconstitutional. Because he was

11



found guilty of violating an unconstitutional statute, Mr. Alexander' s

conviction must be vacated and the charge dismissed with prejudice. 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 207. 

2. The subjects addressed by the bill are not encompassed by the
bill' s title. 

The bill enacting the current incarnation of the criminal attempt

statute was titled " AN ACT Relating to the management of sex offenders

in the civil commitment and criminal justice systems... [ and] prescribing

penalties." As noted above, the bill embraced more than one subject. In

addition, the subjects addressed by the bill did not fall within its title. 

The title here is restrictive. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142

Wn.2d at 207 -208. The title has " carved out and selected" " a particular

part or branch of a subject." Broadaway, 133 Wn.2d at 127 ( citations and

internal quotation marks omitted). 

The phrase " the management of sex offenders in the civil

commitment and criminal justice systems" is akin to the examples of

restrictive titles given in Amalgamated Transit Union: " the acquisition of

property by public agencies," " local improvements in cities and towns," 

increasing penalties for armed crime." Amalgamated Transit Union, 142

Wn.2d at 211. It is not akin to the examples of general titles listed in that

12



case: " violence prevention," " tort actions." Amalgamated Transit Union, 

142 Wn.2d at 208.
4

Because the title is restrictive, provisions that are not fairly within

it have no force. Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 210. The

criminal attempt statute is not fairly within the titles Criminal attempt has

nothing to do with the management of sex offenders.' 

The criminal attempt statute was enacted as part of a bill that

violates the subject -in -title rule. Accordingly it is unconstitutional. 

Amalgamated Transit Union, 142 Wn.2d at 210. Because he was found

guilty of violating an unconstitutional statute, Mr. Alexander' s conviction

must be vacated and the charge dismissed with prejudice. 

4 Had the bill been titled "An Act relating to sex offenders," it might have qualified
as a general title. 

5

Many of the bill' s other provisions do not relate to the management of sex
offenders in either the criminal or the civil commitment systems. 

6 The amendments to the criminal attempt statute would arguably fall within an act
limited to " prescribing penalties" ( the second part of the bill' s title). But there is no authority
that permits a court to ignore the main part of a bill' s title. Of course, the problem does not

arise in bills that actually follow the constitution' s single - subject rule. 
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II. MR. ALEXANDER' S CONVICTION FOR FIRST - DEGREE ATTEMPTED

RAPE OF A CHILD VIOLATED HIS FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT

RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BECAUSE THE COURT' S INSTRUCTIONS

RELIEVED THE STATE OF ITS BURDEN TO PROVE THE ESSENTIAL

ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME. 

A. Standard of Review

Constitutional violations are reviewed de novo. Lynch, 87882 -0, 

2013 WL 5310164, - -- Wn.2d - -- (2013). Jury instructions are also

reviewed de novo. State v. MCCreven, 170 Wn. App. 444, 461, 284 P. 3d

793 ( 2012) review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1015, 297 P. 3d 708 ( 2013). 

Instructions must make the relevant legal standard manifestly apparent to

the average juror. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 864, 215 P. 3d 177

2009). 

B. Due process requires the prosecution to prove every element of an
offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 

Due process requires the prosecution to prove every element of the

charged crime. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 

364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 ( 1970). A trial court' s failure to

instruct the jury as to every element violates due process. U.S. Const. 

Amend. XIV; State v. Haberman, 105 Wn. App. 926, 935, 22 P. 3d 264

2001). An omission or misstatement of the law in a jury instruction that

relieves the state of its burden to prove every element of an offense

violates due process. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 844, 83 P.3d 970

14



2004). Such an error is not harmless unless it can be shown beyond a

reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict. State v. 

Brown, 147 Wn.2d 330, 341, 58 P.3d 889 ( 2002). 

C. The court' s instructions relieved the state of its burden to prove

that Mr. Alexander engaged in conduct corroborating the intent to
commit the specific crime of rape of a child in the first- degree. 

A person is guilty of an attempt to commit a crime if, with intent to

commit a specific crime, he or she does any act which is a substantial step

toward the commission of that crime. RCW 9A.28. 020. A " substantial

step" is " conduct strongly corroborative of the actor' s criminal purpose." 

State v. Workman, 90 Wn.2d 443, 451, 584 P. 2d 382 ( 1978); State v. 

Aumick, 126 Wn.2d 422, 894 P.2d 1325 ( 1995). 

In this case, the trial court gave an instruction that differed from

the definition of "substantial step" adopted by the Workman Court. The

court' s instruction defined " substantial step" ( in relevant part) as " conduct

that strongly indicates a criminal purpose..." CP 39. ( emphasis added). 

This instruction is erroneous for two reasons. 

First, the instruction requires only that the conduct indicate (rather

than corroborate) a criminal purpose. The word " corroborate" means " to

strengthen or support with other evidence; [ to] make more certain." The

American Heritage Dictionary (Fourth Ed., 2000, Houghton Mifflin

Company) ( emphasis added). The Workman court' s choice of the word
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corroborative" requires the prosecution to provide some independent

evidence of intent, which must then be corroborated by the accused' s

conduct. Instruction No. 10 removed this requirement by employing the

word " indicate" instead of "corroborate;" under Instruction No. 10 there is

no requirement that intent be established by independent proof and

corroborated by the accused' s conduct. CP 39. 

Second, Instruction No. 10 requires only that the conduct indicate

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