No. 44351-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
Respondent,

v.

JOEL R. ALEXANDER,  
Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE  
OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

---

THE HONORABLE F. MARK MCCAULEY, JUDGE

---

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Prosecuting Attorney  
for Grays Harbor County

BY: 

KATHERINE L. SVOBODA  
Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney  
WSBA # 34097

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS

County Courthouse  
102 W. Broadway, Room 102  
Montesano, Washington 98563  
Telephone: (360) 249-3951

---

**T A B L E**

**

### A. Statement of Facts

K.J.O. is a minor male with a date of birth of March 20, 2001. RP at 17. On March 9, 2012, Sunshine Beerbower, his mother, called 911 and requested an officer to contact her residence in Elma, Washington. RP at 40. Beerbower had reviewed K.J.O.'s Facebook page and found disturbing messages / chats from a 34 year old male called Joel Alexander. RP at 40

On March 19, 2012, Detective Brearty assumed the identity of the victim's Facebook account profile and Yahoo email account from K.J.O.'s mother Sunshine Beerbower. On March 19, 2012, at approximately 1340 hours, Detective Brearty sent his first assumed identity message on Facebook to the Joel Alexander that was already messaging / chatting with the victim. Alexander replied stating "hey." RP at 44-50.

On March 19, 2012, at approximately 1444 hours, Alexander sent the victim a photo of his erect penis within Facebook messaging / chats. Detective Brearty asked Alexander if the penis photo he just sent was his. Alexander replied, "Ya you like it?" RP at 63-64.

Alexander also instructed the victim how to delete Facebook messages, Alexander also asked the victim for his user and password so he could do it for the victim. Joel Alexander told the victim to delete the messages each time because Alexander doesn't want anyone seeing the conversations. RP at 64-65.

From March 19 to April 12, 2012, Alexander continued to have sexually explicit chats with Detective Brearty, in the guise of 10-year old K.J.O. Alexander sent numerous sexually explicit images to the victim. These photos included images of Alexander's genitals and of him masturbating, as well as photos depicting the genitals of underage boys. Alexander instructed the victim on how to masturbate, including using a hairbrush for anal stimulation. RP at 71, 77-80, 89-91, and 99.

Alexander began to talk to the victim about meeting, saying, "Me and u can secretly be more than friends" Detective Brearty stated, "scared of mom," Alexander replied, "Scared about what, she won't know nothing, keep deleting these messages and will be fine." Detective Brearty asked Alexander, "how will I get out to see it" Alexander replied, "At the races in Elma we will sneak away, I will come stay down there, maybe get her to let u go bowling without her or does she ever let u like ride Ur bike to town by yourself?" RP at 82-83.

On April 12, 2012, Alexander told the victim while in Facebook chat that he (Alexander) will be driving his truck this weekend so he can see the victim. Alexander also stated, "Tell me how Sunday goping to go" Detective Brearty replied, "gonna go for a bike ride to the park and gonna be in the bathroom probably naked cause I like it and feels good hope come in and find me. My bike will be outside so you should no Im there. Nervous you wont like me" Alexander replied, "there's bathroom stalls? Oh, I will like you" Detective Brearty replied that there is a bathroom on

10th street and “its away from the ball fields and stuff, kinda private”  
Describing what would happen when they met, Alexander wrote “so hug  
and kiss and suck each other and my dick inside you...just like the brush,  
but gets better and feel great once in.” Alexander also wrote “need you to  
remind me in the morning when you message me to get lube.” RP at 110-  
115.

On April 14, 2012, Detective Brearty followed the appellant from  
his mother’s residence in Snohomish, WA all the way to Elma, WA. RP  
at 119. Alexander exited at the SR 12 from SR 8 exit into Elma; it’s the  
first official exit off SR 8 for Elma. Detectives’-followed Alexander not  
losing sight of him or his vehicle, Alexander followed Main Street into  
Elma and turned onto Young Street through town to 10th St. Alexander  
turned right onto 10th Street and followed it to the restrooms at the 10th  
St. Park. RP at 119-20.

Alexander parked his blue Ford truck with Washington license,  
B97833R, at the asphalt parking lot adjacent to the white with green trim  
restrooms. These are the restrooms and Elma Park that Detective Brearty  
has had conversations with while on Facebook Chat with Alexander for  
several weeks now. Alexander parked and exited his truck and tried one  
of the doors, the door did not open; either locked or occupied. Alexander  
got back into his truck and drove away. Alexander then traveled to the  
Elma Lanes (Bowling Alley) backed his truck in the first stall in front of  
the front doors and entered. RP at 120-22.



On April 15, 2012, at approximately 1100 hours, Joel Alexander left the Elma Lanes Bowling Alley for the Smith-Murrey (10th St.) Park in Elma Washington. Surveillance units followed Alexander with additional surveillance pre-posted in Elma and around the city park. Alexander arrived at the parking lot and attempted to contact the 11 year old victim inside the boy's restroom. Alexander was arrested for attempted rape of a child. Alexander had a tube of "KY" brand lubricant on his person at the time of arrest. RP at 123-125.

**B. Procedural History**

The defendant was charged by Information on May 3, 2012 with one count of attempted rape of a child in the first degree contrary to RCW 9A.29.020 and 9A.44.073. CP at 1-2. The defendant was found guilty as charged on October 24, 2012. CP at 42. The defendant was sentenced to life without the possibility of parole under RCW 9.94A.570 on December 10, 2012. CP at 3-11.

**C. Jury Instructions**

The trial court provided standard pattern jury instructions, which informed the jurors of the law as it relates to attempted rape of a child in the first degree. CP at 36-41. The appellant did not object to these instructions.

Using WPIC 100.02 and WPIC 44.10, the "to convict" instructions were given as follows:

**INSTRUCTION No. 4.**

To convict the defendant of the crime of attempted rape of a child in the first degree, each of the following elements of the crime must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) That on or about April 15, 2012, the defendant did an act that was a substantial step toward the commission of rape of a child in the first degree;
- (2) That the act was done with the intent to commit rape of a child in the first degree; and
- (3) That the act occurred in the State of Washington.

If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty.

On the other hand, if, after weighing all the evidence, you have a reasonable doubt as to any one of these elements, then it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

**INSTRUCTION No. 5.**

A person commits the crime of rape of a child in the first degree when the person has sexual intercourse with a child who is less than twelve years old, who is not married to the person, and who is at least twenty-four months younger than the person.

CP at 38-39.

With respect to instructing the jury with a definition of a “substantial step,” the court used WPIC 100.05, as follows:

**INSTRUCTION No. 10.**

A substantial step is conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose and that is more than mere preparation.

CP at 39.

**D. Sentencing**

Based on Exhibit 2, the trial court found that the appellant had been convicted in 1999 of two counts of rape of a child in the second degree, and the defendant was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of parole as a persistent offender. CP at 3-11.

**II. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

**A. RCW 9A.28.020 Was Constitutionally Enacted.**

Challenges to the constitutionality of legislation are reviewed de novo. The party challenging the legislation bears the burden of showing the legislation is unconstitutional. Alexander challenges that Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. Ch. 12 violates Article II, Section 19 of the Washington Constitution which reads, “No bill shall embrace more than one subject, and that shall be expressed in the title”.

It is well established that this challenge raises two distinct issues: (1) does the bill embrace more than one subject, and (2) is the subject expressed in the title of the bill. *State ex rel. Citizens v. Murphy*, 151 Wn. 2d 226, 249, 88 P.3d 375 (2004). While violation of either issue is sufficient to declare the relevant provisions of the bill unconstitutional, due to their failure to inform the public of their substance, Article II, Section 19 is liberally construed in favor of upholding the challenged legislation. The challenger of the legislation must establish the bills

unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. *City of Fircrest v. Jensen*, 158 Wn.2d 384, 392, 143 P.3d 776 (2006).

“The single-subject requirement seeks to prevent grouping of incompatible measures as well as pushing through unpopular legislation by attaching it to popular or necessary legislation.” *Pierce County v. State*, 144 Wn.App. 783, 818, 185 P.3d 594 (2008) citing *Wash. Ass’n of Neighborhood Stores v. State*, 149 Wash.2d 359, 368, 70 P.3d 920 (2003). To determine if the bill embraces more than one subject, the court must first determine whether the title of the enactment is general or restrictive. *City of Burien v. Kiga*, 144 Wash.2d 819, 825, 31 P.3d 659 (2001). “If the title is general, the bill may constitutionally include all matters that are reasonably connected with it and all measures that may facilitate the accomplishment of the purpose stated.” *Pierce County*, 144 Wn.App. at 818 citing *Amalgamated Transit*, 142 Wash.2d at 209.

“A general title is broad, comprehensive, and generic as opposed to a restrictive title that is specific and narrow.” *Kiga*, 144 Wash.2d at 825, 31 P.3d 659. An example of a general title would be: an act relating to sex offenders or an act relating to the amendment or repeal of statutes.

A restrictive title selects a particular part of a subject as the subject of the legislation. *State v. Stannard*, 134 Wash.App. 828, 836, 142 P.3d 641 (2006). An example of a restrictive title would be: an act relating to the distribution of proceeds from the sale of public land or shall criminals convicted of class A felonies be subject to community supervision for life.

Restrictive titles tend to deal with issues that are subsets of an over arching subject. *Citizens for Responsible Wildlife Mgmt. v. State*, 149 Wash.2d 622, 633-34, 71 P.3d 644 (2003).

The title of the bill challenged by Appellant reads” AN ACT Relating to the management of sex offenders in the civil commitment and criminal justice systems . . . [and] prescribing penalties...” Laws of 2001, 2nd sp. s. Ch. 12. The title is much like that in *Pierce County v. State*, it identifies the purpose and general areas of law in which the bill will provide regulation and is therefore a general title. Therefore the statute satisfies the constitutional requirement that it contain the subject in the title.

The provision of the bill being challenged is reasonably connected with the title of the act or a measure to facilitate the accomplishment of the stated purpose. Certainly the classification of offenders convicted of attempted sex offenses facilitates the accomplishment of the stated purpose of the bill, managing sex offenders in the criminal justice system.

The second provision under Article II, Section 19 is whether the enactment’s subject is stated in the title. If the title of the act gives notice that would lead to an inquiry into the body of the act or indicate the scope and purpose of the law to an inquiring mind as it relates to the challenged section, then the statute is constitutional. *Amalgamated Transit*, 142 Wash.2d at 217, 11 P.3d 762; *Brewster Pub. Sch. v. Pub. Util. Dist. No. 1 of Douglas County*, 82 Wash.2d 839, 846, 514 P.2d 913 (1973). There

must be a clear and serious conflict between the title and the challenged portion before the court will hold the statute unconstitutional for violating the subject-in-title requirement. *Wash. Ass'n of Neighborhood Stores v. State*, 149 Wash.2d 359, 368, 70 P.3d 920 (2003). The amendment in question changed the classification of a sex offense conviction. The title clearly indicates that the amendments will relate to sex offenders and the criminal justice system and the challenged portion falls squarely within that subject.

**B. The “Substantial Step” Jury Instruction Was Proper.**

Alexander next argues that the trial court relieved the State of the burden to prove every element of attempted murder because it gave an erroneous instruction on the definition of the term “substantial step.” He argues that the instruction was erroneous (1) because it used the word “indicates” rather than “corroborates,” and (2) because it did not instruct the jury that a substantial step must show the purpose to commit the specific crime charged. However, this exact argument has been decided by this court in *State v. Davis*, 174 Wash.App. 623, 300 P.3d 465 (2013) *review denied*, 178 Wash.2d 1012, 311 P.3d 26 (2013). The appellant only argues that *Davis* was decided incorrectly, but does not provide any new authority to support this contention.

“ ‘Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law.’ ” *State v. Aguirre*,

168 Wash.2d 350, 363–64, 229 P.3d 669 (2010) (quoting *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wash.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002)) (emphasis omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). The Court reviews alleged error in jury instructions de novo. *State v. Sibert*, 168 Wash.2d 306, 311, 230 P.3d 142 (2010).

**1. Use of Word “Indicates” Was Not Error.**

Alexander argues that the trial court erred by giving a jury instruction stating that a “substantial step” is conduct that “strongly indicates” a criminal purpose, rather than “strongly corroborates,” relieving the State of its burden to show independent evidence of Alexander’s intent. Brief of Appellant at 15-16. Because the Supreme Court has not mandated use of the word “corroborates,” and because there is no authority that the State must show independent evidence of intent, this should be rejected. *State v. Davis*, 174 Wash. App. 623, 635, 300 P.3d 465, 470 review denied, 178 Wash. 2d 1012, 311 P.3d 26 (2013).

The trial court gave the jury Washington Pattern Jury Instruction: Criminal 100.05: “A substantial step is conduct that strongly indicates a criminal purpose and that is more than mere preparation.” CP at 39. But Alexander argues that this instruction is erroneous because it differs from the language approved in *State v. Workman*, 90 Wash.2d 443, 451, 584 P.2d 382 (1978). The *Workman* court approved the instruction that a substantial step “must be strongly corroborative of the actor’s criminal purpose.” *State v. Workman*, 90 Wash.2d at 452, 584 P.2d 382.

Alexander argues that using the word “indicate” instead of “corroborate” relieved the State of the burden of providing independent, corroborating proof of Alexander’s intent. But *Workman* did not require that courts use the exact wording provided in that case. Rather, the *Workman* court held that “it would be proper for a trial court to include” language that a substantial step must be “strongly corroborative of the actor's criminal purpose.” *Workman* at 452 (emphasis added). The *Workman* court did not hold that such an instruction was mandatory, let alone that it must be given in those exact words.

In fact, the trial court in *Workman* instructed the jury only that a substantial step must be more than mere preparation, without mentioning that the conduct should indicate or corroborate a criminal purpose. *Workman* at 449. The *Workman* court upheld this instruction as proper. *Id.* at 449. A trial court does not err by failing to use the exact language approved in *Workman* because *Workman* itself upheld the failure to use such language. *State v. Davis*, 174 Wash. App. at 636.

Moreover, (as in *Davis*), Alexander cites no legal authority for his argument that the instruction here relieved the State of its burden to provide “some independent evidence of intent, which must then be corroborated by the accused's conduct” (nor does he attempt to explain what this proposition means, as a practical matter). Br. of Appellant at 15-16. Alexander's only authority on this point is a dictionary definition of the word “corroborate.” Alexander uses this definition, in conjunction



with *Workman*, to effectively add a new element to all attempt crimes. But no Washington court has recognized such an element, nor does *Workman* support Alexander's reading of it. *Davis* at 636-37.

This Court has already found that “[n]ot only is [the] proposed ‘independent evidence’ element unsupported by any legal authority, it contradicts settled Washington case law regarding evidence of intent. Washington law holds that the intent to commit a crime may be inferred ‘if the defendant's conduct and surrounding facts and circumstances plainly indicate such intent as a matter of logical probability.’” *Id.* at 637; *See State v. Cordero*, 170 Wash.App. 351, 368, 284 P.3d 773 (2012).

## **2. Use of Words “A Criminal Purpose” Was Not Error.**

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